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MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

The directors present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of
Mayur Resources Ltd (the ‘Company’), and its subsidiaries (collectively the ‘Group’) and the balance sheet and
statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2019.

Opinion of the directors
In the opinion of the directors,

(i} the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the
Company as set out on pages 10 to 54 are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards International {“SFRS(I)s”) so as to give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 30
June 2019 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash
flows of the Group and of the changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended on that date; and

(i) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts
as and when they fall due.

Directors
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Robert Charles Neale

Paul Levi Mulder

Titnothy Elgon Saville Crossley

Frank Terranova

Lu Kee Hong (appointed 25 September 2018)

In accordance with Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Messrs Hong and Crossley retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The following persons served as directors during the financial year but are not serving as directors as at the date of this
statement:

Paul McTaggart (resigned 31 January 2019)
Lee Wei Hsuing (resigned 25 September 2018)

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Except as described below, neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to
any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

The Company has established a shared-based Employee Incentive Plan (EIP) to assist in the motivation, retention and
reward of contractors and employees. The EIP is designed to align the interests of executives and senior management
with the interests of shareholders by providing an opportunity for the participants to receive an equity interest in the
Company.

The EIP permits the grant of the following types of awards:

¢ performance rights;
»  options; and
e  loan funded shares.
(collectively referred to as “awards”)



MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT (continued)
Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures (continued)

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Company issued the following awards under the EIP:

Number issued Exercise
Price
Vested performance rights awarded to employees as salary (Salary
Sacrifice Rights) (i) 1,278,945 Nil
Long term incentive rights (ii) 2 550.000 Nil
Loan funded shares (iii) 1,675,000 Nil
Long term incentive rights not subject to vesting conditions (iv) 90,000 Nil

(i) Salary sacrifice rights

Performance rights are granted to non-executive directors, employees and contractors to receive shares in respect ofa
portion of their agreed remuneration. Each performance right will entitle the holder to receive one share. The
performance rights vest annually over four equal instalments and can be exercised for no consideration at any time after
being granted but prior to the expiry date of the rights.

The number of performance rights to be issued at each grant date is determined by dividing the salary amount to be paid
in the form of performance share rights divided by the prevailing share price.

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’
shareholdings required to be kept under section 164 of the Act, an interest in salary sacrifice rights of the Company as
stated below:
Salary sacrifice rights
registered in the
name of directors

At At the date of

Name of directors 1.7.2018 this statement
Paul Levi Mulder 320,103 669,631
Timothy Elgon Saville Crossley 165,452 508,146

(ii) Long term incentive rights

Performance rights are also offered as part of a Long-Term Incentive Plan to employees, executive and non- executive
directors, contractors, and consultants, to acquire shares in the Company. The rights will vest subject to the relevant
performance measures being met and the participant remaining employed.

The performance rights have a $nil exercise price and an expiry date of 5 years from the grant date and are subject to
the following vesting conditions that will be measured over a vesting period of three years from the date the Shares
were first quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX”).

» Tranche I (50% weighting): For Tranche 1 Awards to vest, the Share price at any time within the three-year
vesting period must be at a price 50% above the initial public offering price for the volume-weighted average price
(VWAP) period for 10 days. The Tranche 1 performance rights were fully vested as at 30 June 2019;

¢ Tranche 2 (25% weighting): For Tranche 2 Awards to vest, the Delivery Engineering and Project Deveiopment
Milestones as outlined in the Prospectus must be achieved within the vesting period. The vesting condition for the
Tranche 2 performance rights had not been satisfied as at 30 June 2019; and

e Tranche 3 (25% weighting): For Tranche 3 Awards to vest, there must be a material uplift to geological resource
and reserve delineation as outlined in the Prospectus within the vesting period. The Tranche 3 performance rights
were fully vested as at 30 June 2019.



MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT (continued)

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures {continued)
(ii) Long term incentive rights (continued)

Should any of the Vesting Conditions not be met, the Awards related to that specific Tranche will lapse and be
forfeited.

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’
shareholdings required to be kept under section 164 of the Act, an interest in long term incentive sacrifice rights of the
Company as stated below:

Long term incentive rights
registered in the
name of directors

At At the date of

Name of directors 1.7.2018 this statement
Paul Levi Mulder 3,000,000 3,000,000
Timothy Elgon Saville Crossley 1,125,000 1,925,000

(iii} Loan funded shares

During the year the Company issued loan funded shares to eligible employees (including employees, executives and
contractors) selected by the Board.

Pursuant to the terms of the Employee Incentive Plan, employees are granted an interest free limited recourse loan to
assist in the purchase of Shares, with the Shares acquired at their market value. The loan is limited recourse so that at
any time the employee may divest their Shares in full satisfaction of the loan balance.

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’
shareholdings required to be kept under section 164 of the Act, an interest in long term incentive sacrifice rights of the
Company as stated below:

Loan funded shares in
registered in the
name of directors

At At the date of

Name of directors 1.7.2018 this statement
Frank Terranova 1,125,000 1,125,000
Timothy Elgon Saville Crossley 1,125,000 1,925,000



MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT (continued)

Directors’ interests in shares, options and debentures

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’
shareholdings required to be kept under section 164 of the Act, an interest in shares of the Company as stated below:

Number of ordinary shares

Shareholdings Shareholdings in
registered in the which a director is
name of directors deemed to have an interest
At At the date of At At the date of
Name of directors 1.7.2018 this statement 1.7.2018 this statement
Robert Charles Neale 149,228 149,228 150,000 150,000
Paul Levi Mulder 223,829 304,834 58,885,714 58,885,714
Timothy Elgon Saville Crossley 1,130,000 1,930,000 1,702,968 1,702,968
Frank Terranova 1,125,000 1,125,000 - -

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’
shareholdings required to be kept under section 164 of the Act, an interest in options of the Company as stated below:

Number of options

Options Options in
registered in the which a director is
name of directors deemed to have an interest
At At the date of At At the date of
Name of directors 1.7.2018 this statement 1.7.2018 this statement
Robert Charles Neale 74,614 74,614 75,000 75,000
Paul Levi Mulder 3,000,000 3,000,000 - -
Timothy Elgon Saville Crossley 2,500 2,500 624,375 624,375

Except as disclosed in the above tables, there was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests in the Company
between the end of the financial year and the date of this statement,

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had an interest in shares,
share options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial
year, or date of appointment if later, or at the end of the financial year.

Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (ARCC) carried out its functions in accordance with section 201B (5) of
the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, including the following:

. Reviewed the audit plans of the external auditors of the Group and the Company, and the assistance given by the
Group and the Company’s management to the external auditors.

) Reviewed the half-yearly and annual financial statements and the auditor’s report on the annual financial
statements of the Group and the Company before their submission to the board of directors.

. Reviewed effectiveness of the Group and the Company’s material internal controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls.

. Met with the external auditor, other committees, and management in separate executive sessions to discuss any
matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the ARCC.

. Reviewed legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, related
compliance policies and programmes and any reports received from regulators.



MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

DIRECTORS® STATEMENT (continued)

Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (continued)

Reviewed the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditor.
Reviewed the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditor.

Recommended to the board of directors the external auditor to be nominated, approved the compensation of the
external auditor, and reviewed the scope and results of the audit.

Reported actions and minutes of the ARCC to the board of directors with such recommendations as the ARCC
considered appropriate.

The ARCC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditor to the Group, is satisfied that the
nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditor.

The ARCC convened two meetings during the year with fiall aitendance from all members. The ARCC has also met
with the external auditors, without the presence of the Company’s management, at least once a year.

Independent auditor

The independent auditor, Baker Tilly TFW LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

@ %/ ) Al S

Paul Levi Mulder Frank Terranova
Director Director
27 September 2019 27 September 2019

LA



@ bakertilly

600 North Bridge Road
#05-01 Parkview Square
Singapore 188778

T: +65 6336 2828

www.bakertilly.sg
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMEBERS OF

MAYUR RESOURCES LTD
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Mayur Resources Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) as set out on pages 10 to 54, which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and of the Company as at
30 June 2019 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the
Company for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of
changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 (the “Act™) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)s”) so as to give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 30 June
2019 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the
Group and of the changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”™). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority
(ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Baker Tilly TFW LLP (trading as Baker Tilly) is @ member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which are
separate and independent legal entities.

Baker Tilly TFW LLP (Registraticn No. T1GLL1485G) is an accounting limited liability partnership registered in Singapore under the 6
Limited Liability Partnerships Act (Chapter 163A).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

MAYUR RESOURCES LTD (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)
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The Growp is involved in exploration and
evaluation activities with a focus on Industrial
Minerals, Copper/Gold and Coal. The Group
has exploration licences and prospective
projects in Papua New Guinea.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
totalling A$28,983,036 as disclosed in Notes 3
and 10 represent a significant balance recorded
in the consolidated balance sheet.

SFRS() 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of
Mineral Resources requires the exploration and
evaluation assets to be assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances suggest that the
carrying amount may exceed its recoverable
amount.

As described in Note 3 to the financial
statements, management performed assessment
of potential indicators of impairment at 30 June
2019 in accordance with the accounting policy
disclosed in Note 2(p) which required
management to make certain estimates and
assumptions as to future events and

Our procedures inclucied, amongst others:

» Evaluating the Group’s accounting policy to
ensure the policy complies with the
requirements of SFRS(I} 6 Exploration for
and Evaluation of Mineral Resources;

s Obtained an understanding of the status of
ongoing exploration programmes and future
intentions for the areas of interest, including
future budgeted spend and related work
programmes;

* Enquired of management and reviewed ASX
announcements and minutes of directors’
meetings to ensure the group had not decided
to discontinue exploration and evaluation at
its areas of interest;

v (Considered the directors’ assessment of
potential indicators of impairment;

»  Verified a sample of additions to the Group’s
exploration and evaluation assets during the
financial year ended 30 June 2019 to support
evidence of activities carried out; and

circumstances. » Verified that each exploration licence
remains valid in respect of each tenement
through the review of official government
documentation.
We also assessed adequacy of the related
disclosures made in Note 10 to the financial
staternents.
Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Statement as set
out on pages 1 to 5, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the information included in the
Annual Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 but does not include the directors’ statement, the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of
this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in that regard.

7
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MAYUR RESOURCES LTD (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of
true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concemn basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The director’s responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the
SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concem.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements, We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

8
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MAYUR RESOURCES LTD (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements {continued)
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters, We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the
provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Khor Boon Hong.

Baker Tilly TFW LL
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

27 September 2019



MAYUR RESQOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 30 June 2019

Group
Note 2019 2018
AS$ AS

Revenue and other income 4 125,813 123,290
Less: expenses
Impairment of exploration and evaluation expenditure 10 - (702,332)
Consultants and contractors (754,959) (686,895)
Professional fees - (33,798)
Other cost related to initial public offering - (277,518)
Auditors’ remuneration 5 {156,004) (180,666)
Depreciation expense (19,136) (18,160)
Foreign exchange losses (39,704) (61,560)
Remuneration expenses (372,706) (410,468)
Insurance {97,892) (130,935)
Listing and share registry expenses (105,906) (47,843)
Operating lease rentals (286,129) (179,605)
Investor and public relations expense (203,923) (116,688)
Travel expenses (342,893) (201,202)
Other operating expenses (388,752) (227,511)
Share-based payments expense 17 (666,359) (1,569,034)
Loss before income tax expense (3,308,550) (4,720,925)
Tax expense 7 - —
Loss for the year (3,308,550) (4,720,925)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year (3,308,550) (4,720,925)
Loss for the period attributable to:
- Owners of the Company (3,295,739) (4,713,215)
- Non-controlling interests (12,811) (7,710)

{3,308,550) (4,720,925)
Total comprehensive loss for the period attributable to:
- Owners of the Company (3,295,739) (4,713,215)
- Non-controlling interests 11 (12,811) (7,710)

(3,308,550) (4,720,925)
Basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of
the Company (cents per share) 8 (2.20) (3.63)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
At 30 June 2019

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Total non-current assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

QOther receivables

Total current assets
Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Amount due to shareholders

Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

Equity
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital

Reserve
Retained earnings

Non—controlling interests
Total equity

Note

12
13

14
15

16
17

11

Group
30 June 2019 30 June 2018 1 July 2017
A$ A$ AS
2,118,410 1,944,016 489,374
28,983,036 20,496,395 13,617,232
31,101,446 22,440,411 14,106,606
2,799,951 12,533,142 501,879
148,165 261,000 195,657
2,948,116 12,794,142 697,536
34,049,562 35,234,553 14,804,142
2,199,554 3,545,430 3,476,423
- 256,619 1,256,619
2,199,554 3,802,049 4,733,042
2,199,554 3,802,049 4,733,042
31,850,008 31,432,504 10,071,100
36,976,495 36,667,443 2,038,237
2,720,951 (696,051) 2,082,586
__{8.,564,346) (5,268,607) (555,392}
31,133,100 30,702,785 3,565,431
716,908 729,719 6,505,669
31,850,008 31,432,504 10,071,100

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

BALANCE SHEET
At 30 June 2019

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Total non-current assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets
Receivables from related parties
Total current assets

Toatal assets

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Amount due to shareholders
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

Net assets

Equity

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital
Reserve

Retained earnings
Total equity

Note

11(b)

12
13
19

14
15

16
17

Company
30 June 2019 30 June 2018 1 July 2017
A$ AS A}

__ 10,770,146 10,770,146 1,818
10,770,146 10,770,146 1,818
2,143,602 10,220,788 400,720
116,303 223,001 195,657
22,857,183 15,195,223 5,046,853
25,117,088 25,639,012 5,643,230
35,887,234 36,409,158 5,645,048
1,716,283 2,868,917 3,476,423
- 256,619 1,256,619
1,716,283 3,125,536 4,733,042
1,716,283 3,125,536 4,733,042
34,170,931 33,283,622 512,006
36,976,495 36,667,443 2,038,237
6,984,113 3,567,111 2,082,586
(9,789,657) (6,950,932} (3,208,817)
34,170,951 33,283,622 912,006

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 30 June 2019

GROUP

2019

Balance as at 1 July 2018
Loss for the year

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners:

Shares issued pursuant to the
exercise of options

Share based payments

Total transactions with

owners in their capacity as

OWIEr's

Balance as at 30 June 2019

GROUP

2013

Balance as at 1 July 2017
Loss for the year

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners:

Issue of shares

Costs of issuing shares

Shares issued pursuant to the
exercise of options

Acquisition of non-controlling
interests in subsidiaries

Issue of shares to Employee
Share Trust

Acquisition of subsidiary

Share based payments

‘Total transactions with owners
in their capacity as owners

Balance as at 30 June 2018

Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
capital Reserves  earnings interests Equity
A$ A% AS AS A%
36,667,443  (696,051) (5,268,607) 729,719 31,432,504
- - (3,295,739) {12,811) (3,308,550)
- —  (3,295,739) (12,811) (3,308,550)
309,052 - - - 309,052
~ 3,417,002 - — 3,417,002
309,052 3,417,002 - - 3,726,054
36,976,495 2,720,951 (8,564,346) 716,908 31,850,008
Non-
Contributed Retained controlling Total
equity Reserves  earnings interests Equity
A$ AS AS A% A%
2,038,237 2,082,586 (555,392) 6,505,669 10,071,100
- - (4,713,215) (7,710)  (4,720,925)
- - (4,713,215) (7,710) _ (4,720,925)
23,323,315 - - - 23,323,315
(1,994,205) - - ~  (1,994,205)
448,679 - - - 448,679
10,768,831 (4,263,162) - (6,505,669) -
2,082,586 (2,082,586) - - -
- - - 737,429 737,429
~ 3,567,111 - - 3,567,111
34,629,206 (2,778,637) - {5,768,240) 26,082,329
36,667,443  (696,051) (5,268,607) 729,719 31,432,504

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 30 June 2019

Company
2019
Balance as at 1 July 2018

Loss for the financial year

Total comprehensive income for the
financial year

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:

Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of
options

Share based payments

Total transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners

Balance as at 30 June 2019

2018
Balance as at 1 July 2017

Loss for the financial year

Total comprehensive income for the
financial year

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:

Issue of shares

Costs of issning shares

Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of
options

Shares issued to acquire non-controlling
interests in subsidiaries

Issue of shares to Employee Share Trust

Share based payments

Total transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners

Balance as at 30 June 2018

Share Retained Total
capital Reserves earnings equity
A% AS A$ AS
36,607,443 3,567,111 (6,950,932) 33,283,622
- - (2,838,724) (2,838,724}
- — (2,838,724) (2,838,724)
309,052 - - 309,052
— 3,417,002 - 3,417,001
309,052 3,417,002 — 3,726,053
36,976,495 6,984,113 {9,789,656) 34,170,951
2,038,237 2,082,586 (3,208,817) 912,006
— - (3,742,115) (3,742,115)
- — (3,742,115) (3,742,115)
23,323,315 - - 23,323,315
(1,994,205) - - (1,994,205)
448,679 - - 448,679
10,768,831 - - 10,768,831
2,082,586  (2,082,586) - -
— 3,567,111 — 3,567,111
34,629,206 1,484,525 - 36,131,731
36,667,443 3,567,111 (6,950,932) 33,283,622

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 30 June 2019

Group
2019 2018
Note A% AS

Loss before tax (3,308,550) (4,720,925)
Adjustments for:

Interest income 4 (66,854) (30,366)

Share based payment expense 17(b)} 666,359 1,569,034

Depreciation expense 9(b) 19,136 18,160

Impairment of capitalised exploration and

evaluation expenditure - 702,332

Net foreign exchange differences (19,255) (31,364)
Total adjustments 599,386 2,227,796
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital (2,709,164) (2,493,129)
Changes in working capital:

Decrease / (increase) in trade receivables and

other current assets 112,836 {260,995)

Increase in employee provisions - 62,318

Increase in trade and other payables 17,900 725,761
Total changes in working capital 130,736 527,084
Cash flows used in operations (2,578,428) (1,966,045)
Interest received 66,854 30,366
Net cash flows used in operating activities (2,511,574) (1,935,679)
Cash flow from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment (552,643) (1,472,802)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 68,887 -
Payments for exploration and evaluation expenditure (5,989,725) (4,565,061)
Net cash used in investing activities (6,473,481) {6,037,863)
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from share issue - parent 309,052 23,771,995
Cost of issuing shares - (1,798,553)
Repayment of borrowings - Siecap {823,382) (1,000,000)
Repayment of borrowings - Shareholders (256,619) {1,000,000)
Net cash (used in)/ provided by financing activities (770,949) 19,973,442
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 12,533,142 501,879
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents {9,756,004) 11,999,900
Foreign exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents 22,813 31,363
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 12 2,799,951 12,533,142

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMETNS
For the financial year ended 30 June 2019

1.

Corporate information

Mayur Resources Ltd (the “Company”) (Co. Reg. No. 201114015W), is a limited liability company incorporated in
Singapore. On 21 September 2017, the Company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.

The registered office of the Company is located at 80 Robinson Road #02-00 Singapore 068898. The principal
place of business is Level 7, 300 Adelaide Street, Brisbane QLD, 4000, Australia.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are
disclosed in Note 11 to the financial statements.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Australian Stock Exchange under the ticker code MRL.
Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are expressed in Australian dollar (“A$”), which is the Company’s functional
currency. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis, except as
disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the
Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)s”).

Historical cost is penerally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the group considers the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would consider when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of SFRS(I) 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within
the scope of SFRS(I) 1-17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as value in use in SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets. In addition, for financial reporting purposes,
fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

(a) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

(b) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

(c) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with SFRS(I)s requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
financial year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and
actions and historical experiences and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates,

Use of estimates and judgements

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Critical
accounting estimates and assumptions used that are significant to the financial statements, and areas involving
a major degree of judgement or complexity, are disclosed in Note 3.
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MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(@)

)

Basis of preparation (continued)
Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and payables
approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

New and revised standards

In December 2017, the Accounting Standards Council (“ASC”} issued the Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”). SFRS(I) comprises the standards and interpretations that are identical to
the International Financial Reporting Standards. The Group has voluntarily adopted SFRS (I) on 1 July 2018.
These financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 are the first set of financial
statements of the Group prepared in accordance with SFRS(I). The Group’s previously issued financial
statements for periods up to and including the financial year ended 30 June 2018 were prepared in accordance
with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“SFRS”}.

In adopting SFRS(I) on 1 July 2018, the Group is required to apply all of the specific transition requirements in
SFRS(I) 1 First-time Adoption of SFRS(I).

Under SFRS(I), these financial statements are required to be prepared using accounting policies that comply
with SFRS(I) effective as at 30 June 2019 The same accounting policies are applied throughout all periods
presented in these financial statements, subject to the mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions under
SFRS(D) 1.

The Group has also presented statement of financial position as at 1 July 2018, which is the date of transition
to SFRS (I).

In addition to the adoption of the new framework, the Group also concurrently applied all new and revised
SFRS(I) and SFRS(I) Interpretations (“SFRS(I) INT") that are effective for the current financial year. The
application of these new and revised SFRS(I) and SFRS(I) INT did not have any material effect on the
financial results or financial position of the Group and the Company.

There was no impact on initial application of SFRS(I), SFRS(I) 15 and SFRS(I) 9 on the Group’s balance sheet
as at 1 July 2017, 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018. There were no material adjustments to the Group’s
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 arising on transition to SFRS(I).

A. SFRS(D)

In adopting SFRS(I) in 2019, the Group has applied the transition requirements in SFRS(I) with 1 July
2018 as the date of transition. SFRS(I) 1 generally requires that the Group applies SFRS(I) on a
retrospective basis, subject to certain mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions under SFRS(I) 1.
The application and transition to SFRS(I) did not have any significant impact on these financial
statements and statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2018 and 1
TJuly 2017.

B. SFRS(D)15

SFRS(I) 15 replaces FRS 18 Revenue, FRS 11 Construction contracts and other revenue-related
interpretations. It applies to all contracts with customers, except for leases, financial instruments,
insurance contracts and certain guarantee contracts and non-monetary exchange contracts. SFRS(I) 15
provides a single, principle-based model to be applied to all coniracts with customers. An entity
recognises revenue in accordance with the core principle in SFRS(1) 15 by applying a 5-step approach.



MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

{b) New and revised standards (continued)

B.

SFRS(I) 15 (continued)

Under SFRS(I) 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e.
when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer. The entity is required to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the
relevant facts and circumstances when applying each step of the model; to contracts with their
customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for incremental costs of obtaining a contract and
the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract.

The Group adopted SFRS(I) 15 using the full retrospective approach. The Group has elected the
practical expedient to apply the standard to contracts that are not completed at the date of initial
application. Updates to the Group’s accounting policy have been made as required.

The application of SFRS(I) 15 did not have any significant impact on these financial statements.

SFRS() 9

SFRS(I) 9 replaces FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. It includes guidance on (i) the classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities; (ii) impairment requirements for financial assets; and (iii)
general hedge accounting. Financial assets are classified according to their contractual cash flow
characteristics and the business model under which they are held. The impairment requirements in
SFRS(I) 9 are based on expected credit loss model and replace FRS 39 incurred loss model.

The Group and the Company applied SFRS(I) 9 using a modified retrospective approach, with date of
initial application on 1 July 2018. The Group and the Company have not restated the comparative
information, which continues to be reported under FRS 39. Differences arising from the adoption of
SFRS(I) 9 have been recognised directly in retained eamings and other components of equity as at 1
TJuly 2018.

The impact upon adoption of SFRS(I) 9 as at 1 July 2018 was as follows:
i) Classification and measurement

Under SFRS(I) 9, the Group and the Company classify their financial assets based on their business
model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets. The assessment of the Group’s and the Company’s business mode! was made as of
the date of initial application on 1 July 2018. The assessment of whether contractual cash flows on
debt instruments are solely comprised principal and interest was made based on the facts and
circumstances as at the initial recognition of the assets.

The following were the changes in classification and measurement arising from adopting SFRS(I)

9:

«  Loans and receivables (including other receivables (excluding tax recoverable}, and cash and
cash equivalents) as at 30 June 2018 are held to collect contractual cash flows and give rise to
cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest. These are classified and
measured as debt instruments at amortised cost beginning 1 July 2018,

There are no changes in classification and measurement for the Group’s and the Company’s
financial liabilities.



MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

)

©

@)

{e)

New and revised standards (continued)
SFRS(I) 16: Leases

SFRS(I) 16 replaces the existing FRS 17: Leases. It reforms lessee accounting by introducing a single lessee
accounting model. Lessees are required to recognise all leases on their balance sheets to reflect their rights to
use leased assets (a “right-of-use” asset) and the associated obligations for lease payments (a lease liability),
with limited exemptions for short term leases (less than 12 months) and leases of low value items. In addition,
the nature of expenses related to those leases will change as FRS 116 replaces the straight-line operating lease
expense with depreciation charge of right-of-use asset and interest expense on lease liability. The accounting
for lessors will not change significantly.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard will affect
primarily the accounting for the Group’s operating leases. The Group anticipates that the adoption of SFRS(T)
16 in the future may have a material impact on the amounts reported and disclosures made in the financial
statements. It is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the impact of SFRS(I) 16 until the Group
performs a detailed assessment. The Group is in the process of performing a detailed assessment of the impact
and plans to adopt the standard on the required effective date.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. On disposal of the investments, the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the investments are recognised in profit or loss.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at
the balance sheet date. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting date as the parent company.
Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

Intragroup balances and transactions, including income, expenses and dividends, are eliminated in full. Profits
and losses resulting from intragroup transactions that are recognised in assets, such as inventory and property,
plant and equipment, are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Basis of combination

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition comprises the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred, and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration
arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-related costs
are recognised as expenses as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Any excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any) and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any), over the fair value of the net identiftable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. In
instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in
profit or loss on the date of acquisition.
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MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Basis of combination (continued)

®

Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a subsidiary
attributable to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the equity holders of the Company.
They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and balance sheet. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling interests based on
their respective interests in a subsidiary, even if the subsidiary incurred losses and the losses allocated exceed
the non-controlling interests in the subsidiary’s equity.

For non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation, the Group elects on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis whether to measure them at fair value, or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net identifiable assets, at the acquisition date. All other non-controlling interests are measured at
acquisition-date fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another standard.

In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (ie transactions with owners in their capacity as owners).

When a change in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a loss of control over the
subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill are derecognised. Amounts
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are also reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred directly to retained earnings if required by a specific SFRS(I).

Any retained equity interest in the previous subsidiary is remeasured at fair value at the date that control is lost.
The difference between the carrying amounts of the retained interest at the date control is lost, and its fair value is
recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign currency
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”’). The financial
statements of the Group and the Company are presented in Australian dollar, which is the Company’s
functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss, except for currency translation differences on net investment in foreign operations and borrowings and
other currency instruments qualifying as net investment hedges for foreign operations, which are included in
the currency transaction reserve within equity in the consolidated financial statements.

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair values are determined.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

®

(®)

Foreign currency (continued)
Translation of Group entities’ financial statements

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the Group's presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(a) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rates at the date of the balance sheet;

(b) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions); and

(c) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the currency translation reserve within equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations
(including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of
borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to the foreign
currency translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign group entity, the cumulative amount of the currency translation reserve relating to that
foreign entity is reclassified from equity and recognised in profit or loss when the gain or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Revenue

The Group bas applied SFRS(I) 15 using the full retrospective method and the application of SFRS(I) 15 did
not have any significant impact on these financial statements.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance
obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount
atlocated to the satisfied performance obligation.

Interest income is recognised when it becomes receivable on a proportional basis taking into account the
interest rates applicable to the financial assets.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
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Income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity in which the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss
(either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively).

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
financial statements except where the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination, and at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associate and
joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on currently enacted or substantively enacted tax rates at the
balance sheet date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

Share capital and share issuance expenses

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Group; or

b) apresent obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

(i) Itis not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation; or
(ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only

by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of

the Group.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contingent

liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be
reliably determined.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
() Financial assets
The accounting policy for financial assets before 1 July 2018 is as follows:
Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature of
the item and the purpose for which the instruments were acquired. Management determines the classification
of its financial instruments at initial recognition,

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the entity commits itself to either the purchase or sale of
the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs.
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are tested for impairment at each financial year end to establish whether there is any objective
evidence for impairment as a result of one or more events ('loss events’) having occurred and which have an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets.

The accounting policy for financial assets from 1 July 2018 onwards is as follows:
Recognition and derecognition

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date - the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) are added to the
fair value of the financial assets on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to acquisition of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Classification and measurement

All financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost of fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. The Group classifies its financial assets based on the Group’s
business model for managing the financial asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
assets. The Group’s financial assets are classified at amortised cost which comprise other receivables and cash
and cash equivalents.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included in interest income using the EIR
method,

23



MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies {(continued)

0

Financial assets (continued)
The accounting policy for financial assets from 1 July 2018 onwards is as follows (continued):
Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for financial assets carried at
amortised cost. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate.

The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months
(a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for ail financial assets with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

(m) Financial liabilities

L))

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables and amount due to shareholders. Financial liabilities are
recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the financial instruments. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal
payments and amortisation.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised and through the amortisation process.

Financial liabilities are classified as current Habilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets excluding goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group and the Company review the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group and the Company estimate the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
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Impairment of non-financial assets excluding goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the
profit or loss.

Property plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment in value.

The cost of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost that is
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequent expenditure relating to plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added to the
carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Dismantlement, removal or
restoration costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the obligation for
dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using the asset.

On disposal of a property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and its
carrying amount is taken to the profit or loss.

The depreciable amount of all property, plant and equipment is depreciated over their estimated useful lives
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Useful lives of property, plant and equipment range
from 3 to 5 years.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use,

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate,
at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognised in the profit or loss when the changes
arise.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of acquiring licences, are capitalised as exploration and
evaluation assets on an area of interest basis. Costs incurred before the Group has obtained legal rights to
explore an area are expensed in the profit or loss.

Exploration and evaluation assets are only recognised if the rights to the area of interest are current and either:

i) the expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area
of interest or by its sale; or

if) activities in the area of interest have not, at the reporting date, reached a stage which permits a reasonable
assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant
operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(p) Exploration and evaluation expenditure (continued)

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if sufficient data exists to determine technical
feasibility and commercial viability and the facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds
the recoverable amount. For the purposes of impairment testing, exploration and evaluation assets are
allocated to cash-generating units to which the exploration activity relates. The cash-generating unit shall not
be larger than the area of interest.

Once technical feasibility and commercial viability of the area of interest are demonstrable, exploration and
evaluation assets attributable to that area are first tested for impairment and then reclassified from exploration
and evaluation assets to property and development assets within property, plant and equipment.

(q) Share based payments

The economic entity makes equity-settled share-based payments to directors, employees and other parties for
services provided for the acquisition of exploration assets. Where applicable, the fair value of the equity is
measured at grant date and recognised as an expense over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase to
an equity account. The fair value of shares is ascertained as the market bid price. The fair value of options is
ascertained using the Black Scholes option valuation pricing model which incorporates all market vesting
conditions. Where applicable, the number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at
each reporting date such that the amount recognised for services received as consideration for the equity
instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest.

Where the fair value of services rendered by other parties can be reliably determined, this is used to measure
the equity-settled payment.

(r) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the directors.

(s) Employee benefits — defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into separate entities and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions once the
contributions have been paid. Contributions are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
service is provided.

3. Key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical accounting judgements

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:

Impairment of exploration and evaluation expenditure

At 30 June 2019, the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets of the Group was A$28,983,036 (2018:
A$20,496,395). Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment in accordance with the accounting
policy disclosed in Note 2(p). The accounting policy requires management to make certain estimates and
assumptions as to future events and circumstances. These estimates and assumptions may change as new
information becomes available. If, after having capitalised expenditure under the accounting policy, a judgement is
made that recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount will be expensed in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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3. Key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical accounting judgements (continued)
Share based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at
the date at which they are granted. Fair value is calculated using the Black Scholes valuation model, considering the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The assumptions used in these valuation models are set
out in Note 17.

Where the vesting of share-based payments contains performance based and market-based milestones, in estimating
the number and fair value of the equity instruments issued, the Group assesses the probability of the milestones
being met, and therefore the probability of the instruments vesting. Management applies judgement to arrive at the
probabilities that are applied to these instruments. These estimates will be adjusted over time to reflect actual
performance and management’s best estimates of the conditions being met.

Deferred tax assets

No members of the Group have generated taxable income in the financial year and as such the Group continues to
carry forward tax losses that give rise to deferred tax assets. Given that the Group’s projects remain in early
exploration stages, it is unlikely that the Group will generate taxable income in the foreseeable future in the absence
of asset sales.

Taking account of the above, the deferred tax assets have not been recognised in the financial statements as
management does not believe that the members of the Group satisfy the recognition criteria set out in SFRS(I) 1-12.

Calculation of loss allowance

When measuring the expected credit loss (“ECL”), the Group and Company use reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information, which is based on assumptions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Loss
given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and
integral credit enhancements.

Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the
likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and
expectations of future conditions.

As the calculations of loss allowances on other receivables and receivables from related parties are subject to
assumptions and forecasts, any changes to these estimations will affect the amounts of loss allowance recognised
and the carrying amounts of receivables. Details of ECL measurement and carrying vatue of other receivables and
receivables from related parties at the end of the year are disclosed in Notes 13, 19 and 20 respectively.

Critical accounting judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations which are described in the preceding paragraphs).

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

As at 30 June 2019, six of the Group’s mineral exploration licences had expired and were under application for
renewal. The Group believes it has complied with all licence conditions, incloding minimum expenditure
requirements, and is not aware of any matters or circumstances that have arisen that would result in the Group’s
application for renewal of the exploration licences not being granted in the ordinary course of business. The Group
has determined that no impairment of the capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure relating to these
exploration licences is necessary as it is considered that there is a reasonable basis to expect that the renewal
applications will be granted and that the Group is otherwise proceeding with exploration and development activities
on the exploration licences. Should any of the exploration licences not be renewed, the relevant capitalised amount
will be expensed as at 30 June 2019 in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Exploration
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and evaluation assets are set out in Note 10.
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4. Revenue and other income

Group
2019 2018
AS AS
Interest income - cash and cash equivalents 66,854 30,366
Foreign exchange gain 58,959 02,924
125,813 123,290
5. Auditor’s remuneration
Group
2019 2018
AS AS
Audit fees:
- Auditor of the Company 46,004 46,000
- Other auditors* 110,000 134,666
156,004 180,666

There are no non-audit fees paid to other auditors in the years ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2019.
* Includes independent member firms of the Baker Tilly International network.

6. Segment information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into the following business units:

» Industrial minerals which includes limestone and the Port Moresby Lime Project.

e Iron which includes construction sands, magnetite sand and heavy mineral sands. The focus of this business
unit is the development of the Orokolo Bay Industrial Sands Project located along the southern coast of Papua
New Guinea;

«  Copper and gold comprising the Group’s interests in the Feni Island Project in the New Ireland Province of
Papua New Guinea, the Basilaki / Sideia project in Milne Bay Province and the Sitipu Project in the Eastern
Highlands province of Papua New Guinea;

e Coal and power comprising the Depot Creek coal resource in the Gulf Project of Papua New Guinea and which
is developing a proposal for vertically integrated domestic power projects in Papua New Guinea with an initial
focus on the Lae region; and

+  Corporate which provides Group-level corporate services and treasury functions.

Except as indicated above, no operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating
segments. In the prior period the Industrial minerals and Iron segments were aggregated.

Management monitors the operating resuits of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on actual
expenditure incurred, including capitalised expenditure which differs from operating profit or loss reported in the
consolidated financial statements.

Accounting policies adopted

The Chief Operating Decision Maker assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of
gross expenditure that includes both expenditure that is capitalised in these financial statements and expenditure
that is expensed in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in these financial statements.
The measurement of gross expenditure does not include the impairment of exploration expenditure or non-cash
items such as depreciation expense and share based payments expense. Interest and other items of revenue are
allocated to the Corporate segment.
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6. Segment information (continued)

Per
Consolidated
Industrial Copper and Coal and Financial
Minerals Iron Gold Power Corporate  Statements
AS AS A$ AS A$ AS
Group
2019
Results:
Interest income - - - - 66,854 66,854
Segment loss (6,722) (64,354) {282,915) (116,464) (2,838,095)  (3,308,550)
Assets:
Exploration and evaluation
Expenditure 5,282,453 14,443,580 2,494,720 6,817,422 — 28,983,036
Segment assets 5,283,320 15,237,752 2,666,926 8,601,595 2,259,899 34,049,562
Segment liabilities 53,368 329,497 27,830 99,175 1,689,684 2,199,554
Per
Consolidated
Industrial Copper and Coal and Financial
Minerals Tron Gold Power Corporate  Statements
AS AS AS AS AS AS
2018
Results:
Interest income - - - - 30,366 30,366
Impairment of exploration and
evaluation expenditure - - (702,332) - - (702,332)
Segment (loss)/profit 57838 — {922,489} (70,088) (3,786,186) (4,720,925)
Assets:
Exploration and evaluation
expenditfure 2,070,836 9,251,133 3,634,965 5,539,461 — 20,496,395
Segment assets 2,071,253 11,512,292 3,835,988 7,369,716 10,445,304 35234,553
Segment liabilities - 195,852 223,978 230,277 3,151,942 3,802,049

NIn the financial year ended 30 June 2018 Industrial Minerals and Iron were reported as a single segment “Iron”. The prior period segment
disclosure has been amended to conform with the reporting in the year ended 30 June 2019.

Geographical information
The Group’s non-current assets are all located in Papua New Guinea (“PNG").

7. Tax expense
Group
2019 2018
AS A$
Tax expense attributable to profit is made up of:
Current year income tax - -

The income tax expense on the results of the financial year varies from the amount of income tax determined by
applying the Singapore statutory rate of income tax to loss before tax due to the following factors:
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7. Tax expense (continued)

Group
2019 2018
A% AS

Loss before income tax (3,308,550) (4,720,925)
Effect of tax rates in other jurisdictions (358,638} (518,430)
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 17% (2018: 17%) (562,453) (802,557)
Effect of change in tax rate’ - 32,542
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 365,924 770,052
Deferred tax assets not recognised 555,167 518,393

The applicable rate of income tax in a jurisdiction other than Singapore in which the Group is subject to
taxation was reduced to 27.5% from 30% in the year ended 30 June 2018,

Group
2019 2018
AS A$
Accruals 22,704 32,956
Unrealised foreign exchange gains (5,328) (11,574)
Provisions 33,570 15,551
Capital raising costs 79,405 111,476
Tax losses available for offset against future taxable
income 1,212,570 760,490

Net deferred tax assets 1,342,921 908,899
Deferred tax assets not recognised (1,342,921) (908,899)

8. Earnings per share

The earnings per share was calculated on the basis of net loss attributable to equity shareholders divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares. The basic and diluted loss per share is the same for the years ended
30 June 2018 and 2019 as the Group incurred losses for both years, and the share options are anti-dilutive.

The following tables reflect the loss and share data used in the computation of basic and dilute earnings per share
for the financial years ended 30 June:

Group
2019 2018
AS$ AS
Loss for the financial year attributable to owners
of the Company {3,295,739) (4,713,215)
Number of shares
2019 2018
AS AS
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding for basic and diluted earnings per
share 150,139,304 129,291,793
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9. Property, plant and equipment
Group
30 June 2019 30 June 2018 1 Tuly 2017
AS A% AS
Power plant assets, at cost 1,758,588 1,701,983 489,374
Property, plant and equipment, net of depreciation 359,822 242,033 =
2,118,410 1,944,016 489,374

(@) Power plant assets at cost

The Group has commenced feasibility studies and negotiations to obtain approvals for a coal fired electricity power
plant to operate in Lae, Morobe Province and supply electricity to PNG Power Limited. The capitalised costs relate
to expenditure incurred as at 30 June 2019 in respect of the proposed project. Depreciation of these costs has not
commenced as the assets are not ready for use.

Group
2019 2018
AS A$
Balance at 1 July 1,701,983 489,374
Additions 56,605 1,212,609
Balance at 30 June 1,758,588 1,701,983
(b} Property, plant and equipment, net of depreciation
Group
2019 2018
AS AS

Balance at 1 July 242,033 -
Additions 226,575 260,193
Disposals {89,650) -
Depreciation (19,136) {18,160)
Carrying value at 30 June 359,822 242,033

Additions include $98,697 (2018:$nil) settled by way of share based payments (refer Note 17).

2019 2018
A% AS
Cost
- At 1 July 260,193 -
- At30 June 392,400 260,193
Accumulated depreciation
- At July (18,160) -
- At 30 June (32,578) {(18,160)
359,822 242,033
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10. Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Group
30 June 2019 30 June 2018 1 July 2017
A$ A$ AS
Exploration and evaluation phases 28,983,036 20,496,395 13,617,232

Exploration and Evaluation Assets

The recoupinent of costs carried forward in relation to areas of interest in the exploration and evaluation phase is
dependent on successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of
interest.

Impairment charges for prior year represent the full impairment of capitalised exploration in relation to tenements
that the Group has, or intends to, relinquish.

Movements in exploration and evaluation assets during the financial year are summarised below:

Group
2019 2018
AS AS

Balance at beginning of financial year 20,496,395 13,617,232
Exploration and evaluation expenditure on acquisition of a

subsidiary (i) - 737,429
Exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised during the

financial year (ii) 8,486,041 6,844,066
Impairment of exploration and evaluation expenditure = (702,332)
Balance at end financial year 28,983,036 20,496,395

(i) Acquisition of Waterford Limited

On 4 July 2017 the Group acquired four mining tenements through the acquisition of 100% of the share capital
in Waterford Limited, a PNG registered company, in exchange for an 11% shareholding in both MR Energy
PNG Pte Ltd and MR Power Generation PNG Pte Ltd. The fair value of the combined tenements at the date of

acquisition was $737,429, based on the underlying capitalised exploration costs that were incurred to date at 30
June 2017.

(ii) Includes $2,651,946 (2018: $1,998,077) in costs settled by way of share based payments (refer Note 17).
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11. Subsidiaries

(a) The Group's significant subsidiaries

Subsidiaries of Mayur Resources Ltd:

MR Exploration PNG Pte Ltd*
MR Iron PNG Pte Ltd*

MR Energy PNG Pte Ltd*

MR Industrials PNG Pte Ltd"®
MR Power Generation Pte Ltd*

Mayur Exploration PNG Limited™

Mayur Iron PNG Limited™

Mayur Energy PNG Ltd™
Mayur Industrials PNG Ltd™"

Mayur Power Generation PNG
Limited™

Waterford Limited”™

Audited by Baker Tilly TFW LLP

Country of
incorporation

Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Papua New Guinea
Papua New Guinea
Papua New Guinea
Papua New Guinea
Papua New Guinea

Papua New Guinea

Principal activity

Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment
Investment

Mineral exploration
Mineral exploration
Coal exploration
Steel

Power generation

Coal exploration

Effective
ownership interest
held by the Group

2019 2018
Yo %
100 100
100 100
89 89
100 100
89 B9
100 100
100 100
89 89
100 100
89 89
89 B89

™ Audited by independent overseas member firms of Baker Tilly International for consolidation purposes.
@ Formerly MR PNG DRI & Steel Making Pte Ltd
% Formerly Mayur PNG DRI & Steel Making Ltd

The above table presents the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries as at 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018.
During the year ended 30 June 2019, no changes occurred in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries.

(b) Investments in subsidiaries

(©

Ungquoted shares at cost

Non-controlling interests

Company
30 June 2019 30 June 2018 1 July 2017
A$ AS AS
10,770,146 10,770,146 1,818

Movement in non-controlling interests (“NCI”) during the financial year are surnmarised below:

Accumulated NCI 1 July

Transferred to non-controlling interest reserve on acquisition of NCI in

Singapore subsidiaries

NCI arising from acquisition of subsidiary

Profit or loss allocated to NCI during the year

Accumulated NCI at 30 June

a3

Group
2019 2018
A% Al
729,719 6,505,669
- (6,505,669)
- 737,429
(12,811) {7,710)
716,908 729,719
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11. Subsidiaries (continued)
(c) Non-controlling interests (continued)
Summarised financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (“NCI”)

The Group has the following subsidiaries that have NCI that are considered by management to be material to the
Group:

Name of subsidiary Principal place of business/ Ownership interests
Country of incorporation held by NCI

30 June 2019

Mayur Energy PNG Ltd Papua New Guinea 11%

Mayur Power Generation PNG Limited Papua New Guinea 11%

30 June 2018 '

Mayur Energy PNG Ltd Papua New Guinea 11%

Mayur Power Generation PNG Limited Papua New Guinea 11%

Set out below is summarised financial information for each of the Group’s subsidiaries with NCI that are considered
material to the Group. This financial information includes consolidation adjustments but excludes inter-company
eliminations.

Summarised Balance Sheet

Mayur Power Generation Mayur Energy PNG Ltd
PNG Limited
2019 2018 2019 2018
b $ $ §

Non-current assets 1,689,353 1,659,079 3,920,468 3,955,610
Non-current liabilities - - - -
Current assets - - 53,553 127,262
Current liabilities (23,094) (20,443) (4,967) (5,000)
Net assets 1,666,259 1,638,636 3,969,054 4,077,872
Net assets

attributable to NCI 183,288 180,250 436,596 448,566

34



MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

11. Subsidiaries (continued)

{c) Non-controlling interests (continued)

Summarised Statements of Comprehensive Income

Mayur Power Generation Mayur Energy PNG Ltd
PNG Limited
2019 2018 2019 2018
$ $ 3 $
Revenue - - - -
Loss before tax (18,504) (6,975) (78.847) (36,899)
Income tax expense - - - -
Loss after tax from continuing
operations {18,504) (6,975) {78,847) (4,059)
Other comprehensive income - - - -
Total comprehensive loss (18,504) (6,975) (78,847) (4,059)
Loss allocated to NCI (2,035) (767) (8,673) (4,059)
Summarised Statement of Cash Flows
Mayur Power Generation Mayur Energy PNG Ltd
PNG Limited
2019 2018 2019 2018
$ $ 3 $
Cash flows used in operating activities - - - -
Exploration and evaluation expenditure - - (35,629) 751,291
Payments for property, plant and
equipment 278,928 1,169,705 - -
12. Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company
30 June 30 June 1 July 30 June 30 June 1 July
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
AS A$ AS A% AS A$
Bank balances 2,799,951 12,533,142 132,565 2,143,602 10,220,788 31,406
Cash held in trust — - 369,314 - - 369,314
2,799,951 12,533,142 501,879 2,143,602 10,220,788 400,720
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13. Other current assets

Group Company
30 June 30 June 1 July 30 June 30 June 1 July
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
AS AS AS AS AS A%
Goods and services tax
receivables 115,688 228,823 - 86,597 215,369 -
Other current
receivables 32477 32,177 - 29,706 7,632 -
Prepaid share issue
costs - - 195,657 - - 195,657
148,165 261,000 195,657 116,303 223,001 195,657
14. Trade and other payables
Group Company
30 June 30 June 1 July 30 June 30 June 1 July
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
AS AS AS A% AS AS
Trade creditors and
accruals 1,163,171 1,688,665 616,658 679,900 1,012,152 616,658
Payable to Siecap
(pre 30 June 2017
services) 1,036,383 1,856,765 2,859,765 1,036,383 1,856,765 2,859,765
2,199,554 3,545,430 3476423 1,716,283 2,868,917 3,476,423

Refer Note 23(a) for further information regarding the Group’s transactions with Siecap.

Set out below is a summary of movements in the Payable to Siecap (pre 30 June 2017 services):

Group and Company
2019 2018
AS AS
Balance at beginning of financial year 1,856,765 2,859,765
Other movements 3,000 (3,000)
Principal amounts repaid (823,382) (1,000,000)
Balance at end of financial year 1,036,383 1,856,765

15. Amount due to shareholders
Group and Company
30 June 2019 30 June 2018 1 July 2017
AS AS A$

Shareholders’ loan — 256,619 1,256,619

The Group entered into a loan agreement with the following Shareholders: DTJ Co Pty Ltd, Thomas Jonathan
Charlton as trustee of the Charlton Family Trust, QMP Nominees Pty Ltd as trustee for the QFL Agencies Trust
and MAYPNG Pty Ltd on 28 January 2016 under which those shareholders agreed to loan ongoing sums of
funding to the Group for the running of the business. The amount of funds loaned must not exceed A$S5 million.

The term of the loan is 5 years. The Group is not charged interest on the loan. The loan is not secured. The loan
became repayable (in part or full) on listing.

On 22 September 2017, the Company repaid A$1 million of the loan utilising funds received pursuant to the
Initial Public Offering. The balance of the loan was repaid in the current year.

Set out below is a summary of movements in loans during the year:
Group and Company

2019 2018
A$ A%
Balance at beginning of financial year 256,619 1,256,619
Principal amounts repaid (256,619) (1,000,000)
Balance at end of financial year - 256,619

36



MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

16. Share capital

Group and Company
30 June 2019 30 June 2018 1 July 2017
AS A% A
Issue and fully paid up capital
Share capital 36,976,495 36,667,443 2,038,237
Movements in ordinary shares on issue on the period to 30 June were:
2019 2018
Number $A Number $A

At beginning of financial year 149,016,844 36,667,443 58,548,009 2,038,237
Issuance of shares pursuant to capital raising - - 48,558,290 23,323,316
Shares issued on the exercise of options and

performance rights 317,529 78,752 906,213 448,679
Acquisition of non-controlling interests in

subsidiaries (Note 17(a)) - - 27,543,618 10,768,831
Issue of shares to Employee Share Trust

(Note 17(b}I}) - - 8,885,714 2,082,586
Tssue of Loan Funded Shares (Note17(b)(1I}) 1,675,000 - 4,575,000 -
Funds received for exercise of options for

which shares were issued after year end - 230,300 - -
Cost of issuing shares — - — (1,994,205)
At end of financial year 151,009,373 36,976,495 149,016,844 36,667,443

Ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends as and

when declared by the Company.

Options issued

The Company did not grant any options during the year ended 30 June 2019

The following table illustrates the number and movements in Share Options issued during the reporting period:

Lovalty Options Advisor Options

2019 2018 2019 2018
On issue at beginning of the period 13,909,828 - 1,337,856 1,337,856
Options granted - 19,404,148 - -
Options exercised (140,585) (800,412)
Options lapsed (1,579,606) (4,693,908) - -
On issue at end of the period 12,189,637 13,909,828 1,337,856 1,337,856
Weighted average exercise price of options $0.56 $0.56 $0.56 $0.56
Weighted average share price on the date
options exercised $0.72 $1.06 Nil exercised  Nil exercised

The options do not have any voting rights, any entitlement to

proceeds on liquidation in the event of a winding up.

Lad
=1

dividends or any entitlement to the
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17. Reserves

Group Company
30 June 30 June 1 July 30 June 30 June 1 July
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
AS AS AS AS A$ AS
Non-controlling
interests reserve (a) (4,263,162)  (4,263,162) - - - -
Share based payments
reserve (b) 6,984,113 3,567,111 2,082,586 6,984,113 3,567,111 2,082,586
2,720,551 (696,051) 2,082,586 6,984,113 3,567,111 2,082,586
(¢}  Non- controlling interest reserve

On 3 July 2017 the Group acquired the non-controlling interests (NCI) in its Singapore subsidiaries for shares in
the parent entity with a fair value of A$10,768,831 with a resulting transfer from equity attributable to non-
controlling interest to equity atiributable to owners of the parent entity and creation of a non-controlling interest

reserve as summarised below:

Group Group
2019 2018
A% AS
Fair value of shares in parent entity issued to acquire the NCI - 10,768,831
NCI in subsidiaries - {6,505,669)
Transferred to Non-controlling interests reserve - (4,263,162)

There were no movements in the non-controlling interest reserve during the year ended 30 June 2019.

()

The share-based payments reserve is used to record the fair value of shares or options issued to
employees/contractors and other service providers. In the year ended 30 June 2019 costs settled by way of share-
based payments amounting to A$2,651,946 were capitalised as exploration and evaluation expenditure (2018:
Af$1,998,077).

Share based payments reserve

Group and Company

2019 2018
AS AS
Balance at 1 July 3,567,111 2,082,586
'(l;;ansfer to issued share capital on creation of Employee Share Trust _ (2,082,586)
Share based payments made during the year (II) 3,417,002 3,567,111
Balance at 30 June 6,984,113 3,567,111
The share-based payments made during the year were accounted for as follows:
Group and Company
2019 2018
AS AS
Recognised as share-based payments expense in the Statement of
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 666,359 1,569,034
Capitalised as exploration and evaluation expenditure 2,651,946 1,998,077
Capitalised as property, plant and equipment 98,697 -
3,417,002 3,567,111
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17. Reserves (continued)
(b) Share based payments reserve (continued)

L

i,

Transfer to issued share capital on creation of Employee Share Trust

The balance of the share-based payments reserve at 30 June 2017 represented the accumulated fair value of
service that had been provided to the Company by employees, contractors and other service providers at reduced
rates. On 10 July 2017, the Company issued 8,885,714 shares at an issue price of 23.4 cents each (accounting
fair value) to the Employee Share Trust (“EST”). At the same time a total of 8,885,714 performance rights were
issued to the relevant employees, contractors and service providers.

Each performance right vested immediately and entitles the holder to receive one share that is held in the EST at
the date of grant of that performance right. The rights can be exercised at any time, with a nil exercise price.

The underlying shares are held in the EST on behalf of the participants for an escrow period of two years.
During this time, the participants are entitled to full dividend and voting rights as the beneficial owners of the
shares. At the end of the escrow period, the employee/contractor may either direct the Trustee of the EST to sell
the shares and pay them the sale proceeds less any relevant costs; or ask the Trustee to transfer legal ownership
of the shares to them (i.e. transfer the shares out of the EST).

Share based payments made during the year

The following share-based payment transactions were recognised during the year:

2019
Number issued s
Vested performance rights awarded to employees as salary (Salary
Sacrifice Rights) (1) 1,278,945 876,742
Long term incentive rights subject to vesting conditions (ii) 2,550,000 640,302
Loan finded shares (iii) 1,675,000 579,618
Long term incentive rights not subject to vesting conditions (iv) 90,000 48,600
Amounts recognised in relation to share based payments
issued in the current year 2,145,262
Amounts recognised in the current year in relation to share based
payments issued in previous financial years 1,271,740
3,417,002
2018
Number issued 5
Vested performance rights awarded to employees as salary (Salary
Sacrifice Rights) 607,171 557,417
Long term incentive rights subject to vesting conditions 6,250,000 595,757
Loan funded shares 4,575,000 1,214,205
Options 3,000,000 1,200,000
3,567,111
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17. Reserves (continued)
(b) Share based payments reserve (continued)

(i) Salary sacrifice rights

Performance rights are granted to employees and contractors to receive shares in respect of a portion of their
agreed remuneration. Each performance right will entitle the holder to receive one share. The performance rights
vest annually over four equal instalments and can be exercised for no consideration at any time after being
granted but prior to the expiry date of the rights.

The number of performance rights to be issued at each grant date is determined by dividing the salary amount to
be paid in the form of performance share rights divided by the prevailing share price (rounded down to the
nearest whole number).

Any new employees/contractors or employees/contractors that have not worked on behalf of the Company for a
minimum of 12 months shall be restricted in exercising their performance rights until such time they have
worked for and/or on behalf of the Company for a year of 12 months.

During the year, 1,278,945 salary sacrifice rights were issued in respect of remuneration totalling $876,742
(2018: 607,171 salary sacrifice rights issued in respect of remuneration totalling $557,149).

(ii) Long term incentive rights subject to vesting conditions

Performance rights are also offered as part of a Long-Term Incentive Plan to employees, executive and non-
executive directors, contractors, and consultants, to acquire shares in the Company. The rights will vest subject
to the relevant performance measures being met and the participant remaining employed. During the year
2,550,000 performance rights (2018: 6,250,000 performance rights) have been awarded in respect of the Long-
Term Incentive Plan.

Long term incentive rights issued 25 January 2019

On 25 Janvary 2019, the Company issued 800,000 long term incentive rights. The performance rights have a
$nil exercise price and an expiry date of 5 years from the grant date and are subject to the following vesting
conditions that will be measured over a vesting period of three years from the date the Shares were first quoted
on the ASX.

¢ Tranche 1 (50% weighting): For Tranche 1 Awards to vest, the Share price at any time within the
three-year vesting period must be at a price 50% above the initial public offering price for the volume-
weighted average price (VWARP) period for 10 days. The Tranche 1 performance rights met the VWAP
vesting condition during the year ended 30 June 2019;

e Tranche 2 (25% weighting): For Tranche 2 Awards to vest, the Delivery Engineering and Project
Development Milestones as outlined in the Prospectus must be achieved within the vesting period. The
vesting condition for the Tranche 2 performance rights was not met during the year ended 30 June
2019; and

s Tranche 3 (25% weighting): For Tranche 3 Awards to vest, there must be a material uplift to
geological resource and reserve delineation as outlined in the Prospectus within the vesting period. The
vesting condition for the Tranche 3 performance rights was met during the year ended 30 June 2019.

Should any of the Vesting Conditions not be met, the Awards related to that specific Tranche will lapse and
be forfeited.
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17. Reserves (continued)

(b) Share based payments reserve (continued}

The amount recognised as a share-based payment in relation to the long-term incentive rights in the year has

been determined as follows:

Share
Period over based
which fair payment

Number Fair value Total Fair value to be recognised
Tranche Grant date issued per right value recognised in the year
Tranche 1 25/1/2019 400,000 $0.64 $256,000 Vested $256,000
Tranche 2 25/1/2019 200,000 $0.64 $128,000 21/09/2020 $£59,481
Tranche 3 25/1/2019 200,000 $0.64 $128,000 Vested $128,000
$443,481

The fair values per right have been determined as follows:

e  Tranche 1. Tranche 1 vesting is determined by a market based condition being the Company’s share
price; consequently, the tranche 1 rights have been valued using an option pricing model using the

following inputs:

Exercise price

Share price target

Expected volatility

Risk-free interest rate
Expected life of share options
Grant date share price

Fair value per option

i1, Share based payments made during the year (continued)

(ii) Long term incentive rights subject to vesting conditions (continued)

$Nil
$0.60
100%
2.39%
5 years
$0.64
$0.64

e  Tranches 2 and 3. Tranche 2 and 3 rights vest on the achievement of non-market conditions and
consequently the fair value per right has been determined based on the Company’s assessment of the

probability of the vesting conditions being satisfied within the vesting period as follows:

Tranche 2
Grant date share price $0.64
Fair value per right $0.64
Probability of vesting condition being satisfied 75%
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Tranche 3
$0.64
$0.64
100%
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17. Reserves (continued)

Long term incentive rights issued 12 October 2018

During the year, 1,750,000 performance rights were awarded in respect of the Long-Term Incentive Plan.

The performance rights have a SNil exercise price and an expiry date of 5 years from the grant date and are
subject to the following vesting conditions.

o Tranche 1 (10% weighting): For Tranche 1 Awards to vest, the Company must have secured
Memorandum of Understanding offtake agreements before November 2018 for cement 800,000 tons per
year cement, 800,000 tons per year clinker 800,000 and 200,000 tons per year quicklime. The vesting
condition was not satisfied, and the rights lapsed prior to 30 June 2019.

« Tranche 2 (15% weighting): For Tranche 2 Awards to vest, a strategic investor must invest a minimum
USDS5 million in the Port Moresby Lime Project stapled to a project funding pathway before January
2019. The vesting condition was not satisfied, and the rights Iapsed prior to 30 June 2019.

e Tranche 3 (15% weighting): For Tranche 3 Awards to vest, the Port Moresby Lime and Cement quarry
aggregates early start up project must achieve Financial Investment Decision before March 2019. The
vesting condition was not satisfied, and the rights lapsed prior to 30 June 2019.

e Tranche 4 (15% weighting): For Tranche 4 Awards to vest, the Port Botany (sand and / or cement)
early start up opportunity must achieve Financial Investment decision before June 2019. The vesting
condition was not satisfied, and the rights lapsed prior to 30 June 2019.

¢ Tranche 5 (45% weighting): For Tranche 5 Awards to vest, the Port Moresby Lime and Cement Project
must achieve Financial Investment Decision and / or a transaction occurs that values the Port Moresby
Cement and Lime Project at a minimum AUD$0.80 per share. The vesting condition had not been
satisfied as at 30 June 2019.

The amount recognised as a share-based payment in relation to the long term incentive rights in the year
has been determined as follows:

Period over Share based
which fair payment
Number Value per value to be recognised
Tranche Grant date issued right Total value recognised in the year
Tranche 1 23/10/2018 175,000 - - 3 months -
Tranche 2 | 23/10/2018 262,500 - - 4 months -
Tranche 3 | 23/10/2018 262,500 - - 6 months -
Tranche 4 | 23/10/2018 262,500 - - 9 months -
Tranche 5 | 23/10/2018 787,500 $0.70 $551,250 24 months $196,821
(ii) Long term incentive rights subject to vesting conditions (continued)
The fair values per right have been determined as follows:
Tranche 1 Tranche2  Tranche3 Tranched4 TrancheS5
Fair value $0.70 $0.70 $0.70 £0.70 $0.70
Probability of vesting condition being
satisfied 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%
Value per right taking into account
probability - - - - $0.70
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17. Reserves (continued)
Il.  Share based payments made during the year (continued)

(iii) Loan funded shares

During the year the Company issued loan funded shares to eligible employees (including employees,
executives and contractors) selected by the Board. Pursuant to the terms of the Employee Incentive Plan,
employees are granted an interest free limited recourse loan to assist in the purchase of Shares, with the
Shares acquired at their market value. The loan will be limited recourse so that at any time the employee
may divest their Shares in full satisfaction of the loan balance.

In accordance with the requirements of applicable SFRS(I)’ the loan funded shares are to be accounted for
as an option granted to the employee with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s
shares at the grant date. Consequently, the loan funded shares have been valued using an option pricing
mode! using the following inputs:

Issued on 12  Issued on 21
October 2018 January 2019

Exercise price $0.70 $0.40
Expected volatility 52% 41%
Risk-free interest rate 2.69% 1.94%
Term 10 years 8.7 years
Suboptimal exercise factor 2.50 2.50
Grant date share price $0.70 $0.64
Fair value per option $0.3469 $0.3451

(iv) Long Term Incentive Rights not subject lo vesting conditions

During the year the Company issued Long Term Incentive Rights to an employee in lieu of a performance
bonus. As the long term incentive rights have no vesting condition, they have been valued using an option
pricing model using the following inputs:

Exercise price $Nil
Expected volatility 656%
Risk-free interest rate 2.39%
Term 5 years
Grant date share price $0.54
Fair value per option $0.54
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18.

19.

20.

Capital commitments

In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements, including tenements that had
expired and were the subject of renewal applications by the Group as at 30 June 2019, the Group is
required to perform exploration work to meet minimum expenditure requirements as specified by the
Papua New Guinea Mineral Resources Authority. The following table sets out the minimum expenditure
commitments:

Group and Company
30 June 2019 30 June 2018 1 July 2017

AS A A8
Payable:
- not later than one year 1,034,035 2,686,791 1,848,535
- later than one year and not later than five years ___ 777,758 1,844,529 323,017
1,811,790 4,531,320 2,171,552
Receivables from related parties
Company
30 June 2019 30 June 2018 1 July 2017
AS AS A%
Receivables from subsidiaries 30,314,929 22,616,339 12,503,969
1 ess: Loss allowance (7,457,116) (7,457,116} (7,457,116}
Net receivable from subsidiaries 22,857,813 15,195,223 5,046,853

Receivables from subsidiaries are insecured, repayable on demand and are non-interest bearing.

Company
2019 2018
AS AS
Balance at I July 15,195,223 5,046,853
Advances to subsidiaries 4,911,942 6,581,259
Share based payment 2,750,648 3,567,111
Balance at 30 June 22,857,813 15,195,223

Financial risk management

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, loans and trade and other
payables. The Group does not currently have any projects in production and as such the main purpose of
these financial instruments is to provide liquidity to finance the Group’s development and exploration
activities. It is, and has been throughout the financial year, the Group’s policy that no trading in speculative
financial instruments shall be undertaken. The main risks arising from the Group’s use of financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. During the financial
year, the Group has had some transactional currency exposures, principally to the Papua New Guinea Kina
(“PGK”) and the United States Dollar (“USD"”). The Group has not entered into forward currency contracts
to hedge these exposures due to the short time frame associated with the currency exposure and the
relatively modest overall exposure at any one point in time.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition,
the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each
class of financial asset and financial liability are disclosed in Note 2. Primary responsibility for
identification and control of financial risk rests with the Board of Directors. However, the day-to-day
management of these risks is under the control of the Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer.
The Board agrees the strategy for managing future cash flow requirements and projections.
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20. Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The carrying values of the Group’s financial instruments at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Group Company
30 June 30 June 1 July 30 June 30 June 1 July
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
AS A% AS AS AS AS
Financial asseis
Financial assets at
amortised cost 2,810,427 - ~ 25,002,856 - -
Loans and
receivables - 12,565,319 501,879 - 25423643 5447573
Financial
liabilities
Financial
labilities at
amortised cost 2,199,554 3,802,049 4,733,042 1,716,283 3,125,536 4,733,042

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from various currency exposures, including
Papua New Guinea Kina (“PGK") and United States Dollar (“USD”). The Group's policy is to convert
its local currency to the foreign currency at the time of the transaction. Foreign currency risk arises
from future commercial transactions.

The Group manages foreign currency risk on an as-needs basis. The risk is measured using sensitivity
analysis and cash-flow forecasting. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, expressed in
Australian dollars at the reporting date, was as follows:

PGK USD
30 June 30 June 1 July 30 June 30 June 1 July
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
AS AS A A% AS AS$
Financial assets
Cash and cash
equivalents 654,413 2,310,419 468,454 - - 27,232
Net currencies
exposure 654,413 2,310,419 468,454 - - 27,232

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Australian
dollar against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. A positive number in the table represents a
decrease in the operating loss after tax and increase equity where the Australian dollar strengthens
against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening of the Australian dollar against the relevant
currency, there would be a comparable impact on the loss or equity, and the balances below would be
negative.

PGK UsD
30 June 30 June 1 July 30 June 30 June 1 July
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
AS A$ A$ AS A$ A$
Loss after tax
and equity
- 10% increase 65,441 231,042 (38,882) - - (2,260)
- 10% decrease (65,441) (231,042) 38,382 — — 2,260
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20. Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Financial risk management (continued)
Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises predominantly from cash and cash equivalents bearing

variable interest rates. At the end of the reporting period, the Group maintained the following variable
rate accounts:

30 June 2019 30 June 2018 1 July 2017
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
interest rate Balance interest rate Balance interest rate  Balance
% AS$ % AS % AS
Cash and cash
equivalents 1.05 2,799,951 1.55 12,533,142 0.5 501,879

At the end of the reporting period, if the interest rates had changed, as illustrated in the table below,
with all other variables remaining constant, after-tax (loss) / profit and equity would have been affected

as follows:
After-tax loss Equity
(higher)/lower higher/(lower)
30 June 30 June 1 July 30 June 30 June 1 July
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
A$ Al AS AS Al AS$
+1% (100bp) 27,999 125,331 5,018 27,999 125,331 5,018
-1% (100bp) (27,999) (125,331) (5,018) (27,999) (125,331) (5,018)
Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties
and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from
defaults. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored.

Concentration of credit risk exists when changes in economic, industry or geographical factors similarly
affect group of counterparties whose aggregate exposure is significant in relation to the Group’s total credit
exposure. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and,
where appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover is purchased.

The following sets out the Group’s internal credit evaluation practices and basis for recognition and
measurement of expected credit losses (ECL):

Description of evaluation of financial assets Basis for recognition and measurement of ECL

Counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have} 12-month ECL
any past due amounts

There has been a significant increase in credit risk since | Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired
initial recognition.

There is evidence of credit impairment Lifetime ECL - eredit-impaired

There is evidence indicating that the Company has no | Write-off
reasonable expectation of recovery of payments such as
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings
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20. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Financial risk management (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial asset as at the balance sheet date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial asset as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information, such as future economic and
industry outlook, that is available without undue cost or effort.

The risk that the borrower will default on a demand loan depends on whether the borrower:
(i) has sufficient cash or other liquid assets to repay the loan immediately; or
(ii) does not have sufficient cash or other liquid assets to repay the loan immediately.

The Group performs this assessment qualitatively by reference to the borrower’s immediate cash flow and
liquid asset position. Relying on the 30 days past due rebuttable presumption is not considered an
appropriate indicator given the lack of contractual payment obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increases in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

The Group also assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial asset is determined to have low credit risk at the end of the reporting
period. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk; the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes. Where information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group).

This is assessed based on a number of factors including key liquidity and solvency ratios. Relying on the 90
days past due rebuttable presumption is not considered an appropriate indicator given the lack of contractual
payment obligations due throughout the life of the loan.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred such as evidence that the borrower is in significant
financial difficulty, there is a breach of contract such as default or past due event; there is information that it
is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; the
disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or the purchase or
origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Estimation techniques and significant assumptions

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current
financial year for recognition and measurement of credit loss allowances.

Maximum exposure and concentration of credit risk

The Group and the Company does not have concentration of credit risk at 30 June 2019 and 2018, except for
receivables from subsidiaries of the Company.
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20. Financial risk management {continued)

(b) Financial risk management (continued)

As the Group and the Company does not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk for each
class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments presented on the
balance sheet and financial guarantees as disclosed in Note 20.

The credit loss for cash and cash equivalents and other receivables are immaterial as at 30 June 2019

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised costs include other receivables, other current asset (excluding
prepayments) and cash and cash equivalents.

The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets:

12-month or Gross carrying Loss Net carrying
lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
b 3 $
Group
N.A. Exposure
Other receivables Limited 32471 - 32477
N.A. Exposure
Cash and cash equivalents Limited 2,799,951 - 2,799,951
Company
N.A. Exposure
Other receivables Limited 29,706 - 29,706
Receivables from subsidiaries Lifetime 30,314,929 7,457,116 22,857,813
N.A. Exposure
Cash and cash equivalents Limited 2,143,602 - 2,143,602

Movements in credit loss allowance

There are no movement in the allowance for impairment of financial assets under SFRS (I) 9 during the
financial year for the Group and Company except for the following:

Receivables from

subsidiaries

g
Company
Balance at 1 July 2018 7,457,116
Loss allowance teasured/(reversed):
Lifetime ECL
- Credit impaired -
Balance at 30 June 2019 7,457,116

Previous accounting policy for impairment of financial assets

Financial assets that are past due but not impaired
The Group and Company do not have any class of financial assets that is past due but not impaired.

There is no other class of the Company’s financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except for
receivables from subsidiaries.
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20. Financial risk management (continuned)
(b) Financial risk management {continued)

The carrying amounts of receivables from subsidiaries individually determined to be impaired and the
movement in the related allowance for impairment are as follows:

30.6.2018 1.7.2017
$ $

Company
Gross amount 22,616,339 12,503,969
Less: Allowance for irnpairment 7.457,116 7,457,116

15,159,223 5,046,853

Movement in allowance for impairment:

Beginning of financial year 7,457,116 7,457,116
Allowance made - -
End of financial year 7,457,116 7,457,116

Receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the balance sheet date relate to debtors that
are in significant financial difficulties or have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured
by any collateral or credit enhancements.

Liquidity risk

The going concern of the Group and the ability to meet its obligations is principally dependent upon the
ongoing support from its shareholders and shareholder related entities, the ability of the Group to
successfully raise capital as and when necessary and the ability to complete successful exploration and
subsequent exploitation of the areas of interest. This is to ensure the continuance of its activities and to
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents in order to
meet the Group’s forecast requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
Surplus funds are generally only invested in bank deposits. At reporting date, the Group did not have
access to any undrawn borrowing facilities.
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20. Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Financial risk management

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

Less than
1 year
AS
Group
30 June 2019
Trade and other payables 2,199,554
30 June 2018
Trade and other payables 3,545,430
Amount due to shareholders 256,619
3,802,049
1 July 2017
Trade and other payables 3,476,423
Amount due to shareholders 1,256,619
4,733,042
30 June 2019
Trade and other payables 1,716,283
30 June 2018
Trade and other payables 2,868,917
Amount due to shareholders 256,619
3,125,536
1 July 2017
Trade and other payables 3,476,423
Amount due to shareholders 1,256,619
4,733,042

21. Fair value estimation

The carrying amount of financial assets (net of any allowance for impairment) and financial liabilities as
disclosed in Note 20(a) is assumed to approximate their fair values primarily due to their short maturities.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

22. Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern to provide returns for shareholders and maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of

capital,

The Group defines capital as being share capital plus reserves. The Board of Directors monitors the level
of capital as compared to the Group’s long-term debt commitments.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made to the Group’s and the Company’s capital management objectives or policies during

the financial years ended 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018.
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23. Related party transactions
(a) Siecap Pty Ltd Development Services Agreement and Loan Agreement

In the year ended 30 June 2018, Siecap Pty Ltd was a related party of the Company due to Paul Mulder who
is the Managing Director of the Company having a controlling shareholding interest in Siecap Pty Ltd.
Effective July 2018, Mr Mulder ceased to have a controlling shareholding interest in Siecap Pty Ltd and
Siecap Pty Ltd ceased to be a related party of the Company.

In the year ended 30 June 2018 Siecap Pty Ltd provided services to the Group pursuant to a Development
Services Agreement between Mayur Resources Pte Ltd, Mayur Exploration PNG Ltd, Mayur Iron PNG
Ltd, Mayur Energy PNG Ltd, Mayur Power Generation PNG Ltd, Mayur Steelmaking and DRI PNG Ltd
and Siecap Pty Ltd dated 27 June 2017 (Development Services Agreement). This agreement superseded a
prior Development Services Agreement dated 21 March 2014.

Under the agreement, Siecap is engaged to provide the following services to the Group to assist in the
project development cycle of developing resource assets from a greenfield conceptual level:

(a) exploration and geological services;
(b) project and development management services; and
(c) commercial services and analytics.

Siecap provided services under the Development Services on agreed normal commercial terms.

The Company entered into a loan agreement with Siecap Pty Ltd on 4 April 2013 under which Siecap Pty
Ltd agreed to loan ongoing sums of funding to the Group for the running of the business. The amount of
funds loaned must not exceed A$15 million.

The term of the loan is 7 years. The Group is not charged interest on the loan. The loan is not secured. The
Joan became repayable (in part or full) on the listing of the Company’s shares on a stock exchange.

Set out below is a summary of transactions undertaken during the prior financial year under the
Development Services Agreement and the Loan Agreement when Siecap Pty Ltd was a related party of the
Company. Whilst the Company continued to use the services of Siecap Pty Ltd in the year ended 30 June
2019, no amounts are reported for 2019 as Siecap Pty Ltd was not considered a related party for the reasons
described above:

2018
AS
Balance at 1 July 2,859,765
Services provided by Siecap under Development Services Agreement 3,287,557
Payments made (3,770,309)
Balance at 30 June 2,377,013

(b) Shareholder Loan

As disclosed in Note 15, the Group entered into a loan agreement with various Shareholders on 28 January
2016 under which those shareholders agreed to loan engoing sums of funding to the Group for the running
of the business. The amount of funds loaned must not exceed A$5 million.

The term of the loan is 5 years. The Group is not charged interest on the loan. The loan s not secured. The
loan was repaid in full during the year ended 30 June 2019.
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(b) Shareholder Loan (continued)

MAYUR RESOURCES LTD AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Set out below is a summary of transactions undertaken during the financial year under the Shareholder Loan

Agreement:

Balance at 1 July
Principal amounts repaid
Balance at 30 June

() Compensation of key management personnel

Short term employee benefits
Superannuation contributions
Share based payments

Group
2019 2018
AS A%
256,619 1,256,619
{256,619) (1,000,000)
- 256,619
Group
30 June 2019 30 June 2018
AS AS
532,500 547,156
48,608 51,954
1,972,366 2,517,583
2,553,474 3,116,693

Total key management personnel compensation represents gross compensation paid or payable and includes
amounts capitalised fo exploration and evaluation expenditure and property, plant and equipment.

Comprise amounts paid to:
Non-executive directors of the Company
Executive Directors

195,121 495,675
2,358,353 2,621,018
2,553,474 3,116,693

The following awards were made to Directors of the Company pursuant to the Company’s Employee

Inventive Plan during the year:

Salary Sacrifice Long Term Loan Funded
Rights Incentive Rights Shares Options
Number Number Number Number
Paul Mulder 349,528 - - -
Timothy Crossley 342,695 800,000 800,000 —
692,223 800,000 800,000 -
No awards were exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 30 June 2019.
The following awards were issued in the year ended 30 June 2018:
Salary Sacrifice Long Term Loan Funded
Rights Incentive Rights Shares Options
Number Number Number Number
Paul Mulder 320,103 3,600,000 - 3,000,000
Timothy Crossley 165,452 1,125,000 1,125,000 -
Frank Terranova - - 1,125,000 -
485,555 4,125,000 2,250,000 3,000,000

No awards were issued in the year ended 30 June 2017,

Details of the terms of awards issued to key management personnel during the year are provided in Note

17.
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24,

25.

Contingent liabilities

In September 2015, the Group entered into a Development Management Deed with a third party. Under
this deed and its subsequent addendums, the third party is to provide services relating to the Lae power
project and any subsequent power projects undertaken by the Group. In addition to the amounts paid to the
third party for their services, they are entitled to contingent compensation of A$140,000 payable upon
financial close of the Lae power project (and likewise for any other subsequent projects).

In June 2017, the Group entered into two additional Deeds of appointment with third parties, regarding the
power projects. Under these deeds, the third parties are to provide services relating to Lae power project.
As compensation for their services they are entitled to various payments and/or interests in MR Power
Generation PNG Pte Ltd and MR Energy PNG Pte Ltd, contingent upon the achicvement of certain
milestones/investor introductions. These amounts include:

Third party 1

(a) A$50,000 fee upon signing of the Power Purchasing Agreement;

(b) A$700,000 fee upon financial close of the Lae power project;

{c) 8% equity in MR Power Generation PNG Pte Ltd and MR Energy PNG Pte Ltd upon operation
commencement and approval of first shareholder dividend payment; and

(d) Introduction fee of 3% of proceeds for any investors introduced which result in funds being received.

Third party 2

(¢) Upon achievement of the signing of the Power Purchase Agreement and subsequent government
guarantees by a defined date to be determined, 5% interest in MR Power Generation PNG Pte Ltd and
MR Energy PNG Pte Ltd; and

(f) Introduction fee of 3% of proceeds for any investors introduced which result in funds being received.

These amounts have not been recognised in the financial statements due to their payment being contingent
upon future events not wholly within the control of the Group.

Subsequent events

No matter or circumstance has arisen since the end of the reporting period that has significantly affected, or
may significantly affect, the Group's operations, the results of those operations or the Group's state of affairs
in subsequent periods, other than those disclosed below:

¢ On 3 July 2019, the Company announced that it had entered into an underwriting agreement with
Morgans Corporate Limited to underwrite the exercise of 12.189 million unlisted Loyalty Options and
1.337 million Advisor Options all of which expire on 21 September 2019 at $0.56 to raise $7.575
million.

e On 3 July 2019, 688,996 unlisted Loyalty Options were exercised at an exercise price of $0.56 per
share to raise $1,505,832.

e On3 July 2019, the Company also announced that it bad raised a further $2.1 million via the following:

i A placement to institutional and sophisticated investors to raise approximately $1.5 million
though the issue of 2,678,572 fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.56 per share.

ii. Repayment of loans outstanding to the Company in relation to 1.5 million loan funded shares
issued to employees under the Employee Incentive Plan to raise $600,000.

» On 3 July 2019, the Company announced that it had submitted a mining lease application with the
Mineral Resources Authority of Papua New Guinea for the Company’s Central Cement and Lime
Project.

¢ On 18 July 2019, the Company announced that it had appointed Morgans Financial Limited and KPMG
Corporate Finance to secure US$350 million in project finance for the Company’s Central Cement and
Lime Project.
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26. Authorisation of financial statements
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity

of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 were authorised for issue in accordance with a
resolution of the directors dated 27 September 2019.

54



